RECEIVED

Feb 28 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

2021-001050

The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Home Owners Association, Inc.,
and The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property
Regime..... Plaintiffs,

v.

Winston Carlyle Charleston National, LLC; Colin R. Campbell Construction, Inc.;
Colin Campbell, individually; Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC; Builders
FirstSource, Inc.; Americo Roofing Concepts, Inc.; DVS, Inc.; Advanced Building
Connection, LLC; Guy C. Lee Building Materials, LLC; WS Contractors, LLC; Dino

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the Trial Court Mistakenly Apply the Clear and Unequivocal Standard Articulated by Concord and Cumberland to the Relevant Contractual Language when Appellant was Not Seeking Indemnity for its own Negligence?**
- II. **Does the Contractual Language Permitting Appellant to Recover for its Subcontractors' Negligence Violate South Carolina Code Section 32-2-10 and Public Policy?**
- III. **Does the Doctrine of Collateral Estoppel Bar Appellant's Claims for Indemnity when the Relied-Upon Prior Judgments are both Inapposite and on Appeal, and thus not Final?**
- IV. **Did the Trial Court Err in Failing to Address the Severability Provision of the Contract, and Where it did Address it, Did the Trial Court Err in Holding that it Lacked Authority to Sever Provisions of the Contract?**
- V. **Was the Parties' Contract Unconscionable and Unenforceable as a Matter of Law?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal is the result of a long and complex construction defect litigation originally filed by the Plaintiffs on July 22, 2016. In the underlying case, the Plaintiffs, The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Homes Owners Association, Inc. and The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime, have sought recovery of damages allegedly occasioned by deficiencies in original construction of the subject project, a multi-family development, located in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. The complex consists of 32 buildings, containing a total of 129 townhome units.

The Plaintiffs' claims, as asserted against Appellant Builders FirstSource – Southeast Group, LLC (“Appellant” or “BFS”), allege, among other contentions, that the framing and window installation services of BFS were deficient, resulting in water intrusion and corresponding damages. Plaintiffs' forensic expert has also opined that the windows at the project are characterized by inadequate DP ratings, requiring comprehensive replacement of those windows; that installation was performed using incorrect fasteners, which were, both (a) of improper type, and (b) of inadequate length to assure required embedment of the fastener into the framing; and that fasteners were installed at spacing intervals which exceeded those required by the manufacturer's installation criteria.

BFS had contracted with several subcontractors who performed the allegedly problematic work at the project on behalf of BFS, and consequently BFS filed crossclaims or third-party claims, as the case may be, against its many subcontractors, including: ECC Contracting, LLC, Hurley Services, LLC, McDaniel

Construction Co¹, LLC, AC Construction Corp and/or AC Construction Inc., L&G Construction Group, LLC, WS Contractors, LLC, Pohlman Quality Exteriors, Inc., Palmetto Trim and Renovations, LLC, Edward Bruce Witham², and East Coast Carpentry Company. The claims of BFS included causes of action in negligence, breach of express and implied warranty, breach of contract, contractual indemnity and equitable indemnity.

Of the above-mentioned subcontractors, eight moved for summary judgment at various times during 2019 and/or 2020. Palmetto Trim filed a motion for summary judgment on December 20, 2019 and an amended motion for summary judgment on October 22, 2020. ECC Contracting, LLC filed a motion for summary judgment on December 20, 2019, and an amended motion for summary judgment on October 15, 2020. East Coast Carpentry filed a motion for summary judgment on January 7, 2020 and an amended motion for summary judgment on October 15, 2020. WS Contractors, LLC filed a motion for summary judgment on January 22, 2020, an amended motion for summary judgment on January 23, 2020, and a second amended motion for summary judgment on October 19, 2020. Hurley Services, LLC filed a motion for summary judgment on August 27, 2020 and an amended motion for summary judgment on October 7, 2020. L&G Construction Group, LLC filed a motion joining the motions for summary judgment

¹ Plaintiffs filed a Stipulation of Dismissal dismissing their claims with prejudice against McDaniel Construction Co, LLC on April 17, 2020. Therein, Plaintiffs stipulated that there are no defects in the work performed by McDaniel Construction Co, LLC on the project that is the subject of this suit. Premised upon Plaintiffs' stipulations, the Honorable Bentley D. Price granted McDaniel Construction Co, LLC summary judgment as to Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC claims on December 18, 2020. McDaniel Construction Co, LLC is not a party to this appeal.

² The Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy Ordered an Entry of Default against Edward Bruce Witham on June 12, 2020. Edward Bruce Witham is not a party to this appeal.

of East Coast Carpentry and WS Contractors on October 21, 2020. Pohlman Quality Exteriors, Inc. filed both a motion for summary judgment and an amended motion for summary judgment on October 22, 2020. And finally, AC Construction filed a motion for summary judgment on October 29, 2020.

All eight subcontractors' motions were heard on November 6, 2020 by the Hon. Jennifer McCoy. Each subcontractor argued its own motion, and the arguments forming the basis for the different motions varied from subcontractor to subcontractor. On May 10, 2021, Judge McCoy issued seven³ separate Form 4 Orders granting, or granting in part, as the case may be, summary judgment to the subcontractors and requesting that *each* subcontractor submit its own proposed order. As a result, Judge McCoy received eight different proposed orders, one from each subcontractor, with each outlining different legal and factual grounds for an award of summary judgment. Judge McCoy then adopted each of the eight proposed orders over the course of multiple days. On July 7, 2021, the lower court issued orders granting, in part, summary judgment to: ECC Contracting, LLC; AC Construction; Hurley Service, LLC; Pohlman Quality Exteriors, Inc.; and L&G Construction. On July 26, 2021, the Court issued an order granting, in part, summary judgment to Palmetto Trim and Renovations. On July 29, 2021, the Court issued orders granting, or, as the case may be, granting in part, summary judgment to: East Coast Carpentry; and WS Contractors.

³ For reasons that are unclear to Appellant, the lower court never issued an initial Form 4 Order addressing L&G's motion. It did, however, ultimately grant partial summary judgment to L&G in an order dated July 7, 2021.

Appellant Builders FirstSource timely moved for reconsideration of each of the eight orders. On August 23, 2021, the Court issued eight Form 4 Orders denying each of Appellant's motions for reconsideration. Appellant separately filed eight notices of appeal – one for each order – on September 22, 2021. By letter dated October 7, 2021, the Clerk of Court for the Court of Appeals advised the parties to this action that it had consolidated the eight appeals filed by Appellant Builders FirstSource – Southeast Group, LLC (“BFS”). Appellant responded by letter dated October 25, 2021, and later by motion dated November 22, 2021 that it objects to consolidation of the appeals. Nonetheless, by letter dated January 28, 2022, the Court of Appeals reaffirmed the consolidation of the appeals. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the Trial Court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, which is that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Pittman v. Grand Strand Entm't, Inc., 363 S.C. 531, 611 S.E.2d 922 (2005); B & B Liquors, Inc. v. O'Neil, 361 S.C. 267, 603 S.E.2d 629 (Ct.App.2004). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud, 360 S.C. 615, 602 S.E.2d 747 (2004); Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mach. Co., Ltd., 363 S.C. 209, 609

S.E.2d 565 (Ct.App.2005). Any triable issues must go to the jury. Mulherin–Howell v. Cobb, 362 S.C. 588, 608 S.E.2d 587 (Ct.App.2005).

On an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, “the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005); see also Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct.App.2003) (stating that all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party). Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Gadson v. Hembree, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (Ct.App.2004). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n, 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (Ct.App.2004). However, when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted. Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 595 S.E.2d 817 (Ct.App.2004).

ARGUMENTS

This brief presents the unique challenge of addressing eight separate court orders, with eight separate arguments, all at once. Between the eight orders, two different contracts are at issue; while six of the orders address one version of contractual language, two of the orders rely on a completely different version of

the contract, with completely different operative contractual language. Some of the orders address the issue of attorneys' fees, and others do not. Some of the Orders hold that the contractual language is unconscionable and that the contract is one of adhesion and thus unenforceable; others do not. Some of the Orders hold that the issues involved in this appeal are barred by collateral estoppel; others do not. Some of the Orders address the contract's warranty language; others do not. One of the Orders rules on the issue of the statute of repose; the rest do not. One of the Orders holds that Appellant's equitable indemnity claim fails; the remaining orders preserve the equitable indemnity claim. One of the Orders rules on the issue of contractual severance; the rest do not.

This brief will first address arguments common to all of the orders, and will then attempt to address arguments that may be specific to certain, but not all, Respondents. In order to address even the most common elements of this case, however, Appellant believes that a review of the two different contracts at issue would greatly assist the Court.

The contracts governing the relationships between (1) Appellant and East Coast Carpentry and (2) Appellant and Palmetto Trim contain indemnification language that mirrors each other but predates the indemnification language found in the relevant contracts that Appellant has with the remaining subcontractors. For ease of reference, Appellant will refer to its contracts with East Coast Carpentry and Palmetto Trim as "the 2005 Contracts." The relevant indemnification language in the 2005 Contracts provides as follows:

[T]o the fullest extent permitted by law, Subcontractor agrees to release, indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Indemnitees for,

and to save the harmless against, any and all Claims (together with reasonable attorneys' fees), **to the extent of liability resulting from Subcontractor's negligence or willful misconduct** incurred by the Indemnitees which arise out of or relate to (i) any alleged personal injury, death, or property damage arising from or connected with the Work; (ii) any alleged defect or malfunction in any of the services or materials provided in connection with the Work; or (iii) omissions resulting from Indemnitee's failure to supervise Subcontractor's operations.

[2005 Subcontract Agreement, Section 6(b)(2)]. (emphasis added).

The contracts that followed with the remaining six subcontractors (referred to collectively as the "Later Contracts") contained completely different indemnity provisions from those found in the 2005 Contracts. In these Later Contracts, indemnity obligations were laid out under the heading "Section 5. Indemnity," which consisted of four paragraphs, although only three are relevant herein. The first paragraph governs indemnification in cases including those arising out of property damage, such as the underlying action. The second paragraph governs indemnification in cases arising out of bodily injury to the subcontractor, its agents, employees, or subcontractors. The third paragraph governs the subcontractor's separate duty to defend. Each is addressed here in turn.

Paragraph One provides, in relevant part, that Appellant may seek indemnification for losses arising out of, among other things, property damage:

ONLY TO THE EXTENT CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OR OMISSION OF THE SUBCONTRACOR OR ANYONE DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY EMPLOYED BY THE SUBCONTRACTOR OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THE SUBCONTRACTOR MAY BE LIABLE.

[Master Subcontract Agreement, Section Five, Paragraph One]. This paragraph expressly permits Appellant to recover from its subcontractor for the negligent acts

or omissions of said subcontractor in cases, such as the one before this Court, arising out of property damage. It bears emphasis that this paragraph is the only paragraph within Section 5 of the Master Subcontract Agreement which specifically provides for indemnification against loss resulting from property damage caused by the neglect or omission of the indemnitor.

Paragraph Two governs the relationship between the parties in cases arising out of claims of bodily injury to the subcontractor, its agents, employees, and/or subcontractors. This case does not arise out of bodily injury, and thus this paragraph is irrelevant and not currently before the Court. Nonetheless, Respondents have taken issue with this paragraph because, in cases involving bodily injury to the subcontractor, its agents, employees, and/or subcontractors, the contract allows Appellant, “to the fullest extent permitted by law,” to seek indemnification for losses “REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH CLAIM, DAMAGE, LOSS OR EXPENSE IS CAUSED, OR IS ALLEGED TO BE CAUSED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, BY THE NEGLIGENCE OF ANY OF THE INDEMNITEES.” [Master Subcontract Agreement, Section Five, Paragraph Two]. Thus the provisions of paragraph two, by their specific terms, allow recovery in indemnity only as authorized by law, and, correspondingly, would not impose any indemnity obligation contrary to South Carolina law.

Moreover, (for those reasons discussed herein below), even assuming that this language may potentially be problematic if this were a case arising out of bodily injury, it does not affect Appellant’s right to pursue indemnification pursuant to Paragraph One in a case arising out of property damage.

Paragraph Three of the Indemnity Section governs the subcontractor's duty to defend. Paragraph Three provides that:

THE DUTY TO DEFEND UNDER THIS SECTION 5 IS INDEPENDENT AND SEPARATE FROM THE DUTY TO INDEMNIFY, AND THE DUTY TO DEFEND EXISTS REGARDLESS OF ANY ULTIMATE LIABILITY OR NEGLIGENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR.

[Master Subcontract Agreement, Section Five, Paragraph Three].

Appellant believes that Paragraph Three needs no further explanation, as the terms are abundantly clear and speak for themselves.

Some, but not all, of the Orders also address the Warranty Section and the Severance Section of these Later Contracts. Appellant will review these additional sections of the contract as appropriate when addressing the relevant arguments.

I. Each of the Eight Trial Court Orders Mistakenly Applied the Clear and Unequivocal Standard Articulated by Concord and Cumberland to the Relevant Contractual Language Even Though Appellant was only Seeking Indemnity for the Subcontractors' Negligence.

One of the things that each of the lower court orders has in common is that each inappropriately applies the heightened standard found in Concord & Cumberland to the contract language at issue because the lower court mistakenly assumed – and sometimes specifically found – that Appellant was seeking to be indemnified for its own negligence. Any such assumption or finding of the lower Court is without evidentiary support.

Typically, courts will construe an indemnification contract “in accordance with the rules for construction, and of contracts generally.” Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Property Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 819 S.E.2d 166 (Ct. App. 2018). Only when a party seeks contractual indemnification

for its own negligence do our courts require that the language granting that indemnification meet a heightened standard of being “clear and unequivocal.” See id. Because Appellant is not seeking indemnification for its own negligence, the heightened standard of “clear and unequivocal” should not have been applied to its contracts.

In Concord & Cumberland, the Court of Appeals considered indemnification provisions which were virtually identical to those at issue in the Later Contracts. In that case, the general contractor, Superior Construction, sought indemnification from its window installation subcontractor, Muhler, against damages arising from both (a) the negligence of the subcontractor, and (b) the concurrent negligence of Superior (the general contractor) itself. The Circuit Court found that the indemnification provisions of the Subcontract Agreement were not sufficiently “clear and unequivocal” as to require Muhler to indemnify Superior for Superior’s own negligence. However, the Circuit Court specifically determined that those indemnity provisions did in fact obligate the subcontractor, Muhler, to indemnify the general contractor, Superior, against claims and damages caused by the negligent acts or omissions of Muhler. The Court of Appeals affirmed the determination of the Circuit Court, noting repeatedly within its opinion, that, although the indemnification provision of the relevant subcontract agreement was not sufficiently clear and unequivocal to require indemnification against the general contractor’s own negligence, such indemnification provision nonetheless obligated the subcontractor to indemnify the general contractor against loss or damage caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the subcontractor. See generally,

Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Property Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 819 S.E.2d 166 (Ct. App. 2018).

At the crux of Concord & Cumberland was the fact that the general contractor was trying to recover from its subcontractor for the general contractor's own negligence. That is not the case here. Appellant is not seeking indemnification for its own sole or concurrent negligence, but is only seeking indemnification, and corresponding damages, against liability for loss or damage arising from Respondents' negligence. When, as here, a contractor does not seek indemnity for its own negligence, the "clear and unequivocal" standard simply does not apply, and the indemnity provision is not subject to that heightened standard.

Certain orders of the lower court in this case erroneously found that Appellant was seeking indemnification for its own negligence. For example, the Order granting partial summary judgment to Hurley Services finds that "[i]n its crossclaims against Hurley, BFS seeks to recover the amount of any judgment in favor of Plaintiffs arising from its own negligence, and also all costs, expenses, and attorneys fees it incurs in defending the action, even if 100% of defense costs arise from the sole negligence of BFS." [Hurley Services Order, p. 13]. There is nothing in the Record, including in the pleadings articulating BFS' claims against its subcontractors, that can support the finding of the trial court. In fact, a review of the relevant documents, which Appellant will address momentarily, reveals the exact opposite.

This entire appeal turns on whether Appellant is seeking to be indemnified for Appellant's own negligence or only for the negligence, whether sole or

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