RECEIVED

Dec 02 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge  
Civil Action No. 2016-CP-10-03783

Appellate Case No. 2021-001050

The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Home Owners Association, Inc., and The  
Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime, .....Plaintiffs,

v.

Winston Carlyle Charleston National, LLC; Colin R. Campbell Construction, Inc.; Colin  
Campbell, individually; Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC; Builders FirstSource, Inc.;

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

BFS cites to the case of Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866 (Ct. App. 2002) in support of its argument for severability. Beach Co. is inapposite. There, a landlord brought suit against tenant for breach of lease agreement, and the landlord countersued for breach of contract. 351 S.C. 56, 566 S.E.2d 863. The contract at issue contained provisions that waived the tenant’s right to a jury trial and to assert compulsory counterclaims. Id. at 64, 866. This Court held that “A severable contract is one in its nature and purpose susceptible of division and apportionment, having two or more parts, in respect to matters and things contemplated and embraced by it, not necessarily dependent upon each other, nor is it intended by the parties that they shall be.” Id. at 64, 867. This Court ultimately held that the tenant’s rights to a jury trial and to assert counterclaims were separate and distinct rights, and it severed the waiver of compulsory

of counterclaims. Id. at 65, 867.

Here, unlike Beach Co., the indemnification language of BFS's master subcontractor agreement is intertwined and not susceptible of division. BFS is not seeking to sever an illegal part of a contract. It is asking this court to cherry pick lines of a section of a contract to salvage its claim for indemnity. BFS should not be allowed to jumble multiple "confusing at best and deceptive at worst" indemnity provisions within the indemnification section of the master subcontractor agreement, and then ask this Court to cherry-pick terms to be enforced when confronted with the illegality of the indemnity language. **(R. p. 831).**

This Court's decision in Simpson is on point. In Simpson, the South Carolina Supreme Court found an arbitration agreement with unconscionable terms wholly unenforceable, despite the presence of a separate contractual severability clause, due to the "cumulative effect of a number of oppressive and one-sided provisions contained within the entire clause." 373 S.C. 14, 33-36, 644 S.E.2d 663, 673-74 (2007). The contractual severability provision did not result in an exception to the general rule of unenforceability of illegal contracts, especially where the contract is one-sided, oppressive, or a contract of adhesion. Id.

BFS should not and cannot, as a matter of law, be saved from its own illegal contract, by a rewriting of its terms, especially rewriting by a court. Poynter, 387 S.C. at 588, 694 S.E.2d at 18; Lewis v. Premium Ins. Corp., 351 S.C. 167, 171, 568 S.E.2d 361, 363 (2002), ERIE Ins. Co., 393 S.C. at 460, 713 S.E.2d at 321. For this reason, the circuit court should be affirmed.

#### IV. THE ANTI-INDEMNITY STATUTE APPLIES TO BFS'S CLAIMS FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

BFS does not challenge in this appeal that it cannot use its master subcontractor agreement to require its subcontractors to indemnify it from its own negligence. BFS admits it cannot recover in indemnity for its sole negligence under South Carolina law; however, it argues that the same

law does not restrict its right to recover, in indemnity, its attorney's fees and costs – even if such costs were incurred because of its sole negligence or the negligence of its other subcontractors. This argument is illogical, against the letter and spirit of applicable law, and more importantly, was crafted by BFS after the circuit court fully granted WSC summary judgment.

A. Attorney's fees and costs are recoverable elements of damages of a contractual indemnity claim.

BFS argues “the [Anti-Indemnity] statute addresses general damages and not recovery of attorney's fees; thus, the statute does not apply to this portion of the Contract.”<sup>17</sup> BFS's argument ignores that “general damages” may include attorney's fees and costs when the right to recover the same is provided by contract or statute, as it is here. See Townsend v. Singleton, 257 S.C. 1, 12, 183 S.E.2d 893, 988 (1971); Rimer v. State Farm, 248 S.C. 18, 27, 148 S.E.2d 742, 747 (1966); U.S. Rubber Co. v. White Tire Co., 231 S.C. 84, 96, 97 S.E.2d 403, 409-410 (1956).

The Anti-Indemnity Statute addresses “Hold harmless clauses in certain construction contracts.” The text of the statute reads as follows:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, **a promise or agreement** in connection with the design, planning, construction, alteration, repair or maintenance of a building, structure, highway, road, appurtenance or appliance, including moving, demolition and excavating, **purporting to indemnify the promisee**, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees **against liability for damages arising out of bodily injury or property damage proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence of the promisee**, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees **is against public policy and unenforceable**. Nothing contained in this section shall affect a promise or agreement whereby the promisor shall indemnify or hold harmless the promisee or the promisee's independent contractors, agents, employees or indemnitees against liability for damages resulting from the negligence, in whole or in part, of the promisor, its agents or employees. The provisions of this section shall not affect any insurance contract or workers' compensation agreements; nor shall it apply to

---

<sup>17</sup> BFS is referring specifically to Paragraph Three of Section 5 of the master subcontractor agreement. (**App. Br. p. 30**). BFS defines this designation (“Paragraph Three”) in its opening Brief. The text of Section 5 of the master subcontractor agreement is not separately designated by sections and the paragraphs are not separately numbered as this designation would convey. See the text of Section 5 on pages 14-16, supra.

any electric utility, electric cooperative, common carriers by rail and their corporate affiliates or the South Carolina Public Service Authority.

S.C. Code § 32-2-10 (emphasis and double emphasis added).

The circuit court was correct in concluding the Anti-Indemnity Statute is applicable to BFS's claim for attorney's fees and costs because the statute speaks of "damages" and attorney's fees and costs can only be recoverable in indemnity as damages. **(R. pp. 94-95).**

It is well-established under South Carolina law that "attorney's fees incurred in resisting the claim indemnified against may be recovered as part of the damages and expenses" associated with a contractual indemnity claim. See McCoy v. Greenwave Enterprises, Inc., 408 S.C. 355, 359, 759 S.E.2d 136, 138 (2014) (citing Addy v. Bolton, 257 S.C. 28, 34, 183 S.E.2d 708, 710 (1971)); see also Fountain v. Fred's, Inc., 429 S.C. 533, 556–57, 839 S.E.2d 475, 488 (Ct. App. 2020), reh'g denied (Mar. 30, 2020), cert. granted (May 28, 2021); Sherlock Holmes Pub, Inc. v. City of Columbia, 389 S.C. 77, 697 S.E.2d 619 (Ct. App. 2020); 22 Am. Jur. 2d, Damages, § 166, pp. 235-236.

In fact, BFS pled it was entitled to attorney's fees and costs on its indemnity cause of action. **(R. p. 399)** ("The BFS is entitled to full contractual and common law indemnification from the Cross Claim Defendants, for any liability BFS is found to have to the Plaintiffs or to others in this action, and BFS is also entitled to damages for any negligence, as aforesaid, on part of the Cross Claim Defendants, entitling BFS to recover from the Cross Claim Defendants, its attorneys' fees, costs, and other expenses incurred in defending this action, and further entitling BFS to recover from the Cross Claim Defendants any sums for which BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs or to others, of which Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC may pay in satisfaction of such claims."). BFS's own pleading acknowledges that attorney's fees and costs are recoverable items of damages on a contractual indemnity claim. There is no support for BFS's argument that S.C.

Code § 32-2-10's reference to "damages" does not include attorney's fees and costs.

BFS's other argument on appeal is that the Anti-Indemnity Statute, S.C. Code § 32-2-10, does not preclude the recovery of attorney's fees and costs as "consequential damages of an indemnity claim" because they are not damages that BFS will incur to a third-party. (**App. Br. p. 31**). This is an argument that BFS created after summary judgment was entered. As an initial matter, it is not properly preserved for appeal. It is also an argument that is wholly inconsistent with its agreement, pleadings, the plain and ordinary meaning of the statutory language, and the purpose of the statute and South Carolina law.

While this argument lacks substantive merit, it must first be addressed that BFS crafted this argument after the circuit court granted WSC summary judgment. BFS did not properly preserve these arguments for appeal, because these arguments were not raised prior to BFS's Motion for Reconsideration. See (R. pp. 1386-1450); (R. pp. 1373-1385).

It is well-established that a party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not. Kelaher, Connell & Connor, P.C. v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n, 435 S.C. 55, 61, 863 S.E.2d 842, 845 (Ct. App. 2021) (finding an issue that was first raised in a Rule 59(e) motion was unpreserved for appellate review) citing Patterson v. Reid, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995). This Court should find that BFS did not properly preserve this issue for appeal given that they were raised for the first time in BFS's Motion for Reconsideration and uphold the circuit court's orders granting summary judgment to WSC on this independent basis alone.

The argument must also be rejected because it conflicts with the language of both BFS's pleading and its master subcontractor agreement. See (R. p. 441) (quoted above). The language of BFS's master subcontractor agreement provides for BFS's recovery of attorney's fees and costs as

a form of indemnification:

TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE SUBCONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY DEFENDANT AND HOLD HARMLESS THE CONTRACTOR, THE OWNER, AND ALL OF THEIR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, SUITS, LOSSES, CAUSES OF ACTION, DAMAGES, LIABILITIES, FINES, PENALTIES, AND EXPENSES OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ARBITRATION OR COURT COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES (SUCH LEGAL EXPENSES TO INCLUDE COSTS INCURRED IN ESTABLISHING THE INDEMNIFICATION AND OTHER RIGHTS AGREED TO IN THIS PARAGRAPH) ARISING OUT OF OR RESULTING FROM BODILY INJURY OR DEATH OF ANY PERSON, OR PROPERTY DAMAGE, INCLUDING LOSS OF USE OF PROPERTY, ARISING OR ALLEGED TO ARISE OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SUBCONTRACTOR'S PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK OR OTHER ACTIVITIES OF THE SUBCONTRACTOR, BUT ONLY TO THE EXTENT CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OR OMISSION OF THE SUBCONTRACTOR OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THE SUBCONTRACTOR MAY BE LIABLE. . . . THE DUTY TO DEFEND UNDER THIS SECTION 5 IS INDEPENDENT AND SEPARATE FROM THE DUTY TO INDEMNIFY, AND THE DUTY TO DEFEND EXISTS REGARDLESS OF ANY ULTIMATE LIABILITY OR NEGLIGENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR, THE OWNER, OR ANY OF THEIR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES. THE DUTY TO DEFEND ARISES IMMEDIATELY UPON PRESENTATION OF A CLAIM BY ANY PARTY INDEMNIFIED HEREUNDER AND WRITTEN NOTICE OF SUCH CLAIM BEING PROVIDED TO SUBCONTRACTOR. SUBCONTRACTOR'S OBLIGATION TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD HARMLESS UNDER THIS SECTION 5 WILL SURVIVE THE EXPIRATION OR EARLIER TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT UNTIL IT IS FINALLY DETERMINED BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION OR ARBITRATION PANEL THAT A CLAIM AGAINST THE CONTRACTOR, THE OWNER, AND ANY OF THEIR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES FOR THE MATTER INDEMNIFIED HEREUNDER IS FULLY AND FINALLY BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

**(R. pp. 790-791)** (all caps emphasis in original, underline emphasis added).

BFS's pleadings seek attorney's fees and costs on its contractual indemnity cause of action.

**(R. p. 441).** In fact, the only cause of action that BFS has not abandoned is its contractual indemnity cause of action.

BFS attempts to support its argument against the application of the Anti-Indemnity Statute by reference to an explanation of what “indemnity” means in Concord & Cumberland, Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 646-647, 819 S.E.2d 166, 170-171 (Ct. App. 2018). BFS cites to Concord & Cumberland not for the case holding, but rather for its description of “indemnity” as “that form of compensation in which a first party is liable to pay a second party for loss or damage to the second party incurs to a third party.” (**App. Br. p. 31**). BFS argues that the attorney’s fees and costs WSC would be required to reimburse BFS for are not damages BFS has incurred to a third party, therefore they are not “within the scope of indemnity.” (**Id.**).

The Legislature’s intent to prevent a situation where a subcontractor, such as WSC, must reimburse a general contractor, like BFS, for amounts BFS must pay in indemnity or to defend against its own negligence or the negligence of its other subcontractors, is clear and unambiguous from the language of the Anti-Indemnity Statute.

It is fundamental that:

The primary rule of statutory construction requires that legislative intent prevail if it can reasonably be discovered in language used construed in light of intended purpose. The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute. If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no need to employ rules of statutory interpretation, and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.

Rorrer v. P.J. Club, Inc., 347 S.C. 560, 569, 556 S.E.2d 726, 730 (Ct. App. 2001).

The word “indemnity” is not found within the Anti-Indemnity Statute. See S.C. Code § 32-2-10. The word “indemnify” and phrase “hold harmless” are. Id. To “indemnify” and “hold harmless” are synonymous with each other and the well-understood meaning of each verb is to

make immune from liability.<sup>18</sup> The statute does not limit or qualify its application as BFS would have it, nor does the ordinary meaning of the language contained therein.

The lower court was correct in giving the words “indemnify” and “hold harmless” their “plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.” CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnt’y Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (quoting Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007)).

It is also proper to consider BFS’s efforts to construe the language in the Anti-Indemnity Statute in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law, which disfavors indemnity provisions that are “overly broad.” See Keith v. River Consulting, Inc., 365 S.C. 500, 600 S.E.2d 302 (Ct. App. 2005); see also Rorrer v. P.J. Club, Inc., 347 S.C. at 569, citing S.C. Coastal Council v. S.C. State Ethics Comm’n, 306 S.C. 41, 44, 410 S.E.2d 245, 247 (1991). The object of the Anti-Indemnity Statute is to prevent the enforcement of agreements that require a subcontractor to indemnify a general contractor for damages caused by the general contractor’s negligence or the negligence of its subcontractors. D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders First-Source-Southeast Group, LLC, 422 S.C. 144, 152, 810 S.E.2d 41, 45 (Ct. App. 2018).

BFS seeks an interpretation of the statutory language that is not consistent with the plain language of the statute, its ordinary meaning, and the overall purpose of the statute and South Carolina law. Its argument should be rejected for these additional reasons.

---

<sup>18</sup> Black’s Law Dictionary defines “indemnify” as: “**1.** To reimburse (another) for a loss suffered because of a third party’s or one’s own act or default; HOLD HARMLESS. **2.** To promise to reimburse (another) for such a loss. **3.** To give (another) security against such a loss” and “hold harmless” to mean “[t]o absolve (another party) from any responsibility for damage or other liability arising from the transaction; INDEMNIFY.” Black’s Law Dictionary 11th Ed. (2019); see also New York & Presbyterian Hosp. v. United States, 881 F.3d 877, 883-87 (Fed. Cir. 2018) (holding “indemnify” was commonly understood to mean “to compensate” and “to reimburse” after examining various definitions of the word).

V. BFS CANNOT SEEK INDEMNITY AGAINST LIABILITY FROM WSC ON APPEAL WHEN BFS PREVIOUSLY LIMITED ITS CLAIM AGAINST WSC TO ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

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